IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 92,173

ROY CLIFTON SWAFFORD,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MARTIN J. MCCLAIN Litigation Director Florida Bar No. 0754773 OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL-SOUTH 1444 Biscayne Blvd. Miami, FL 33132 (305) 377-7580

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

INTRODUCTION

In November of 1985, Mr. Swafford was convicted of first degree murder and sentenced to death. The evidence against Mr. Swafford was circumstantial. There was no physical evidence linking Mr. Swafford to the murder other than a .38 found in trash can at the Shingle Shack bar in Daytona Beach which ballistic analysis identified as the murder weapon. However, the testimony linking Mr. Swafford to that .38 was shaky at best. Mr. Swafford's defense was innocence. Specifically, the defense focused upon the fact that even according to the State, Mr. Swafford could only have committed the murder during an hour to an hour and half period, and this was an insufficient period of time to have raped the victim both vaginally and anally, burned her twice with cigarettes, make sure she was fully clothed, and then shot her nine times.¹

On September 7, 1990, Governor Martinez signed a warrant setting Mr. Swafford's execution for November 13, 1990. Thereafter, collateral counsel was assigned to represent Mr. Swafford by the Office of the Capital Collateral Representative. Collateral counsel sought Chapter 119 materials. In early October of 1990, police reports concerning other suspects James Michael Walsh, Walter Levi, and Michael Lestz were disclosed to Mr. Swafford's counsel. These reports clearly implicated James

¹There was also a question as to whether Brenda Rucker, the victim, was shot at the scene where her body was located, or whether her body was dumped there after she had already been killed. No spent bullets were found at the scene.

Michael Walsh as an individual who may have murdered Brenda Rucker. These reports placed Mr. Walsh one block away from the scene where Brenda Rucker disappeared, fifteen minutes before she disappeared. Mr. Walsh was not seen again until over four hours later. When he reappeared, Mr. Walsh was sweaty and nervous. The reports also revealed that Mr. Walsh had homosexually assaulted Mr. Lestz and while doing so burned him with cigarettes in fashion that "strongly resemble[d] those burns found on the body of Brenda Rucker." (PC-R3. 205).

On October 16, 1990, after receiving an eight day extension of the then controlling Rule 3.851, Mr. Swafford's collateral counsel filed a 3.850 motion which included a claim that Mr. Swafford had not received an adequate adversarial testing because neither he nor his counsel were provided with the Walsh, Levi, or Lestz evidence.² In response, the State of Florida asserted: "James Michael Walsh, Walter Levi, and Michael Lestz were thoroughly investigated and discarded as suspects." (State's Response dated 10/22/90 at 17). The State argued: "There is no constitutional requirement that the prosecution make a complete and detailed accounting to the defense of all police investigatory work on a case." (Id. at 16). The State further asserted: "Swafford has failed to show that this hearsay information was admissible, and failed to demonstrate any

²Mr. Swafford also asserted that additional exculpatory evidence never reached his jury because of either the State's failure to disclose or defense counsel's failure to discover.

culpability of Walsh, so information regarding the investigation would not have changed the outcome." (Id.).

On October 30, 1990, the circuit court summarily denied the 3.850 motion. As to the claim premised upon Walsh, Levi and Lestz, the circuit court stated: "The court finds that the state was not required to provide Swafford with information regarding all suspects investigated." Order Denying 3.850 dated 10/30/90 at 4.

On appeal to this Court, the State repeated the arguments that it had made in the circuit court. This Court's opinion issued on November 14, 1990, and found no error in the circuit court's ruling had been demonstrated. <u>Swafford v. Dugger</u>, 569 So. 2d 1264 (Fla. 1990).

Not until February 7, 1997, at the evidentiary hearing at issue in this appeal, did the State finally reveal the truth as to how the investigation of Walsh as a suspect came to an end. The investigation of James Michael Walsh as perpetrator of the Rucker homicide had ended on January 25, 1983, when Michael Lestz was confronted about his failure to pass a polygraph in July of 1982 during which he denied any involvement in the Rucker homicide.³ (PC-R4T. 538). On January 25, 1983, Michael Lestz revealed that at 6:00 a.m. on February 14, 1982, James Michael Walsh left Mr. Lestz at a laundromat approximately one block away

³On July 23, 1982, Mr. Lestz asserted that on February 14, 1982, Mr. Walsh and Mr. Levi removed his clothing, took his vehicle, and returned several days later with a large amount of money. (Def. Exh. 4).

from the Fina Station at which Ms. Rucker had just arrived at work. On January 25, 1983, Mr. Lestz revealed that at 6:00 a.m. the morning of February 14th, Mr. Walsh left the laundromat in Mr. Lestz' vehicle to go find some drugs, this being fifteen minutes before Ms. Rucker was taken from the Fina Station accompanied by a man of whom composite drawing was made which "strongly resembled" Mr. Walsh. (PC-R4T. 546). At that time, Mr. Lestz further stated that Mr. Walsh did not return until after 10:30 a.m. and then he appeared "[p]retty nervous, sweaty. He was real hyper." (PC-R4T. 65). On January 25, 1983, Mr. Lestz indicated that after Mr. Walsh got back he was anxious to dispose of several guns, specifically including two .38's. On January 25th, it was known that a .38 had mostly likely been the murder weapon. Mr. Lestz' January 25th statement was "very similar" to what Walter Levi had already stated, and was thus corroborated by another witness.⁴ (PC-R4T. 558). Yet as was first revealed on February 7, 1997, the investigation ended then because Captain Randall Burnsed "just didn't find [Mr. Lestz] credible". (PC-R4T. 569). No further investigation was done. Clearly, the State's claim in 1990 that Mr. Walsh and Mr. Lestz had been "thoroughly investigated and discarded as suspects" was a false representation to the courts and to collateral counsel.

⁴On August 30, 1982, Mr. Levi told law enforcement that at approximately 6:00 a.m. on February 14, 1982, Mr. Lestz arrived at the motel room where Mr. Levi had spent the night with Mr. Walsh. Mr. Walsh then departed with Mr. Lestz saying that the pair had "something to do." (Def. Exh. 7). Mr. Levi said that he did not see Mr. Walsh and Mr. Lestz again until between 11:00 a.m. and noon.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 14, 1982, at approximately 6:15 a.m., Brenda Rucker was abducted from a Fina station in Ormond Beach, Florida. (R. 728, 739-40, 1273). A composite drawing of the assailant who abducted Ms. Rucker was subsequently prepared. (PC-R4T. 547).

On February 15, 1982, Ms. Rucker's body was discovered by sheriff's deputies in a wooded area about six and a half miles from the Fina station. (R. 746, 748). Ms. Rucker had been sexually assaulted (both vaginally and anally), burned twice with cigarettes and shot nine times. (R. 768-69, 771). The bullets passed through her clothing indicated that she was fully clothed at the time she was shot. (R. 767). The most likely fatal shot was "[b]ehind the right ear" where "a faint imprint of the muzzle of a weapon" appeared. (R. 765).

According to a supplemental police report dated March 17, 1982, Michael Walsh had been arrested in Arkansas. (Def. Exh 2). Arkansas authorities discovered in his possession a BOLO for the Rucker homicide in Daytona Beach. (Def. Exh 2). The Arkansas authorities were struck by Mr. Walsh's strong resemblance to the composite drawing contained in the BOLO. As a result, the Arkansas authorities contacted the Volusia County Sheriff's Office on March 17, 1982. (PC-R4T. 546) Volusia County law enforcement commenced investigating Mr. Walsh. And in fact, they "corroborate[d] that, that Mr. Walsh resembled the BOLO". (PC-R4T 546). Law enforcement also determined that Walsh along a

Michael Lestz and Walter Levi had been in Daytona Beach on February 14, 1983.

Thereafter, there were a series of interviews of Mr. Walsh, and his traveling companions, Mr. Lestz, and Mr. Levi. A supplemental police report dated July 20, 1982, summarized a conversation Special Agent Baker had with Mr. Lestz and Mr. Lestz' attorney. (Def. Exh. 3). Special Agent Baker was with the United States Secret Service. Mr. Lestz was in federal custody on a charge of forgery of treasury bonds. (PC-R4T. 85). Agent Baker reported that Mr. Walsh had pistol-whipped Mr. Lestz prior to the two being arrested in March, 1982. (Def. Exh. 3). After pistol whipping Mr. Lestz, Mr. Walsh took him to a motel where he pointed a gun at Mr. Lestz, burned him with cigarettes and said "he was going to kill me by means of placing a pistol behind my left ear and shooting [sic] my brains out and wanted me to think about that before he did it." (PC- R4T 72). In July of 1982, Agent Baker reported that "Lestz' attorney advises that [the information] Lestz has involves several homicides which occurred in the state of Florida including Walsh -- Walsh's murder of a white female." (PC-R4T. 574).

On July 23, 1982, Volusia County personnel interviewed Mr. Lestz and subsequently Mr. Walsh. (PC-R4T. 580). At that time, Mr. Lestz said that he, Walsh and Levi were in the Daytona Beach area "on 2/14, 2/15 1982 . . . Walsh accompanied by Levi had again taken his clothes from him, locked him in a small room and taken his van, that the pair disappeared for several days with

him not knowing where they went." (PC-R4T. 117, Def. Exh. 6 at 4). During Mr. Lestz' July 23rd interview, a polygraph examination was administered. Deception was found in many of the questions answered by Mr. Lestz. Specifically:

Q And deception was found on the question, did you know the Fina station employee Brenda Rucker, and the answer being no?

A Correct.

Q Deception was found on, were you there when Brenda Rucker was shot, and the answer being no? That's on the next page.

A Correct.

Q Deception was found on, did Walsh tell you he shot Brenda Rucker, and the answer was no?

A Correct.

[Irrelevant exchange between the attorneys omitted].

Q And deception was found, did you shoot Brenda Rucker, and the answer was no?

A Correct.

(PC-R4T. 552-53).

On July 23, 1982, Mr. Walsh was interviewed regarding the Rucker homicide. (Def. Exh. 6). A report summarizing this interviewed was prepared July 26, 1982. "[I]t indicated that Walsh indicated that he would not related what he was doing or his whereabouts during the period of February 14th through 15th, 1982 stating quote, that he would rather not say, close quote". (PC-R4T. 575). The report also noted that Walsh was shown several photographs of the Rucker homicide at which time he was observed as becoming "extremely upset, disorganized, nervous and

unsure of his statements." (Def. Exh 6). The report also stated: "WALSH was asked why upon his incarceration he had a copy of the RUCKER homicide suspect's composite in his possession at which time WALSH indicated that he obtained this composite from a Ormond Beach food store and had simply retained it because of a matter of curiosity." (Def. Exh 6). The report further stated: "WALSH indicated that his primary support during these periods of time were burglaries and robberies of which he did not care to elaborate, that he was a narcotic addict, using little 'D's' (Dialuded)." (Def. Exh. 6).

On August 25, 1982, Volusia County authorities interviewed Walter Levi. (Def. Exh. 1). During that interview, Mr. Levi indicated that "it was common for him and Mr. Lestz to be left at the laundromat while Mr. Walsh went to purchase drugs." (PC-R4T. 555). Mr. Levi indicated that this was the laundromat located on Granada Boulevard. By a law enforcement officer's "own estimate, this was probably a quarter mile or so" from the Fina Station where Brenda Rucker worked. (PC-R4T. 555). The August 30, 1982, police report summarizing the interview of Mr. Levi stated: "LEVI indicated that on numerous occasions after his arrival back in the Daytona area in 1982, that WALSH drove both he and LESTZ to the area of Granada Boulevard at the laundromat and dropped the two off. LEVI indicated that WALSH would then go to the address of 'B.P.' who lives near the intersection of Granada and Route 1 and purchase narcotics." (Def. Exh. 7). The report observed that:

LEVI further indicated that on the 14th of February, in the early morning hours, that he was spending the night in Daytona Beach hotel under a fictitious name with a stolen credit card. LEVI stated that accompanying him on this particular evening was WALSH.

LEVI indicated that at approximately 6:00 AM, that LESTZ responded to the hotel room and picked up WALSH stating that the pair had 'something to do'. LEVI stated that LESTZ informed WALSH that he did not wish LEVI to go with them as he did not know him that well or trust him.

(Def. Exh. 7 at 2).

On September 3, 1982, in Sangamon County, Illinois, the vehicle Mr. Lestz had possession of while in the Daytona Beach area on February 14th was searched pursuant to a search warrant. The search warrant was supported by the affidavit of Bernard Buscher, a Volusia County Deputy Sheriff. In the affidavit Deputy Buscher stated that, when Walsh was arrested in March of 1982, he had in his possession "a composite bulletin concerning details of the Brenda Rucker homicide" (PC-R3. 205). Deputy Buscher also indicated that Brenda Rucker's autopsy "revealed two marks on the body of the victim possibly caused by the application of a lighted cigarette" (PC-R3. 204). Deputy Buscher revealed in the affidavit that Lestz had stated that Walsh subjected Lestz to homosexual attacks during which "Lestz was burned with a cigarette" (PC-R3. 205). Deputy Buscher examined Lestz's burns and "noted that these burns on Lestz' body strongly resemble those burns found on the body of Brenda Rucker." (PC-R3. 205). On February 14th, Walsh was anxious to sell two .38 caliber handguns. Walsh "then dyed his hair black and forced Lestz to drive him to New Orleans" (PC-R3. 205-206).

No physical evidence was found as a result of the search of the vehicle which had previously belonged to Mr. Lestz. However, the failure to find any incriminating evidence did not in any way eliminate Walsh or Lestz as suspects. As Captain Randall Burnsed testified in circuit court:

Q Had anything about that made you skeptical of Mr. Lestz at that point in time?

A No, sir.

Q In fact, the van had, in fact, been sold to somebody else and other people had owned it in the interim time period; is that correct?

A Yes, sir.

Q And, in fact, with reference to the car Mr. Swafford was in, the search of that car produced no physical evidence linking him to the crime either; is that correct?

A Correct.

(PC-R4T. 549-50).

In fact after the results of the vehicle search were in, Captain Burnsed decided to travel to a federal prison in Illinois to interview Mr. Lestz yet again about the Rucker homicide. (PC-R4T. 550-51). So in January of 1983, Captain Burnsed along with Deputy Buscher traveled at county expense to Marion, Illinois to re-interview Mr. Lestz. Captain Burnsed explained that he wanted to obtain from Mr. Lestz an explanation of why he had shown deception on the polygraph examination conducted in July of 1982. (PC-R4T. 538). In fact as Captain Burnsed has now testified, Mr. Lestz' problems with the polygraph "indicate[d] to [Captain

Burnsed] that this meant that Mr. Walsh was more likely to be involved in the homicide". (PC-R4T. 538).

During the January 25, 1982 interview, Mr. Lestz changed his story. (PC-R4T. 568). He abandoned his previous claim of having been locked in a motel room for two days and having a blackout. Instead, he reported that between 6:00 a.m. and 10:30 a.m. on the day of the Rucker homicide, Walsh left him in a laundromat in Daytona Beach, a block from the Fina station. (Def. Exh. 5 at 3) A police report dated January 31, 1983 summarizing the interview of Lestz reported that "LESTZ indicated however that upon WALSH'S [sic] on numerous occasions dropping him off on Granada Boulevard at the laundromat, he would observe WALSH to drive his (Lestz) vehicle west on Granada and make a left turn on US-1 adjacent to the FINA SERVICE STATION at which the victim was abducted." (Def. Exh. 5 at 4). Lestz further indicated that Walsh had on numerous occasions frequented the convenience store near the laundromat and had commented on a particular female clerk working at the convenience store (PC-R4T. 76-77). On January 25, 1983, "LESTZ again reiterated that he felt WALSH was responsible for the homicide of BRENDA RUCKER but again stated that he was not there and that WALSH had not informed him that he killed the victim." (Def. Exh. 5 at 4).

It was revealed for the first time on February 7, 1997, that after the January 25th interview of Mr. Lestz, law enforcement stopped its investigation of Mr. Walsh as a suspect in the Rucker homicide. On February 7, 1997, Captain Burnsed explained his

decision to not pursue Mr. Walsh and Mr. Lestz as a suspect further as follows:

Q I thought you had indicated that the reason for going on January 31st -- actually I guess it was January 25th, 1983 to Illinois to interview Mr. -- to interview Mr. Lestz was because you found him and Mr. Walsh to be serious suspects?

A Correct.

Q So what Mr. Lestz had said before this statement didn't eliminate [Walsh] as a suspect?

A Correct.

Q Okay. So at the time of this statement then Mr. Lestz gives you information indicating that Mr. Walsh is a half block from the crime scene going out to purchase drugs the morning of the crime?

A That's correct.

Q And did that match up with what Mr. Levi had already said?

A It's very similar, yes.

Q At that point in time did you go confront Mr. Walsh with this information?

A I did not. No, sir.

Q After the interview on January 25th, 1983 was any further investigation conducted of Mr. Lestz, Levi or Walsh?

A I'm sorry. Could you repeat that one more time?

Q After this interview, which is January 25th of 1983, was any further investigation conducted of Mr. Lestz, Mr. Levi or Mr. Walsh?

A Yes.

Q And what was that?

A The comparison of the fingerprints and everything with the three individuals were compared with the

latent fingerprints that were obtained from the crime scene. [⁵] 0 When did that occur? A I don't specifically recall. I don't have the case file in front of me. That had not already been done? 0 A I'm not sure when that was done. Q Mr. Walsh's name was first given to you in March of 82. This is ten months later. You don't think that the fingerprints had been submitted previously? A I don't recall. Q Okay. A I don't --Q So you can't say [then] that investigation occurred after January of 1983 with any certainty? A Correct. Q Other than that, was there any further investigation conducted of these three individuals? A Not that I recall at this time. (PC-R4T. 557-59). Q So would it be fair to say after January 25th, 1983 you ceased investigating Mr. Lestz because you just didn't find him credible? A That's a fair statement. Yes, sir. (PC-R4T. 569). Captain Burnsed's testimony on February 7, 1997, for the first time revealed that Mr. Walsh and Mr. Lestz were not eliminated after they were "thoroughly investigated and discarded

⁵Of course subsequently, there were fingerprints submitted from Roy Swafford. The results were all negative for Mr. Swafford.

as suspects." State's Response dated 10/22/90 at 17). Thus, the courts in 1990 and collateral counsel were mislead by the representations that Walsh was eliminated after a "thorough" investigation eliminated him; presumably this meant something more than Captain Burnsed's credibility determination. The 1997 Burnsed testimony also flies squarely in face of the January 31, 1983 report authored by Captain Burnsed wherein he stated there was more investigation that needed to be done:

With the interview being terminated with MR. LESTZ, inv. Buscher accompanied by Cpt.Burnsed responded back to INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT, Orlando, Florida on Thursday, January 27, 1983. It is felt that after reviewing all of the information obtained from both LEVI and LESTZ in reference to this case, that once again MR. LEVI should be interviewed.

Further investigation is to follow.

(Def. Exh 5 at 4).

As to re-interviewing Mr. Levi, Captain Burnsed testified at the evidentiary hearing below as follows:

Q On redirect examination you were asked what else could you have done after January 25th of 1983. And your answer was nothing.

Couldn't you have gone back to interview Levi again?

A Certainly could, yes.

Q Since his story and Lestz' story seem to corroborate each other at that point in time?

MR. FOX: Objection. Misstatement, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Be overruled.

MR. MCCLAIN:

Q Didn't they now both indicate that Walsh was in the vicinity of the homicide at the time of the homicide?

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