IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROY CLIFTON SWAFFORD,

Appellant,

V.

CASE NO. 92,173

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JUDY TAYLOR RUSH Assistant Attorney General Fla. Bar #438847 444 Seabreeze Blvd. 5th FL Daytona Beach, FL 32118 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

UNAUTHORIZED ISSUES:

The State objects to each of Swafford's five unauthorized claims, and submits that same are procedurally barred. In the alternative, the State asserts that each unauthorized issue is without merit.

Issue I:

The State's 1990 response to Swafford's first Rule 3.850 motion was not misleading. Mr. Walsh and company were investigated for months and were eventually discarded as suspects because there was no evidence to support further investigation. The failure to interview Mr. Levi a third time in no manner prejudiced Swafford. Although Swafford produced Mr. Levi at the evidentiary hearing, he presented nothing new which casts any doubt on the validity of Swafford's conviction. Any Brady and Kyles components to this claim are procedurally barred.

Issue II:

Swafford's Brady and Kyles claims are procedurally barred.

Issue III:

Swafford has failed to establish that the circuit court judge abused his discretion in deciding not to take judicial notice of the "Overton Commission Report" or the "Shevin Report." Swafford failed to authenticate the reports, and did not produce any evidence establishing that the reports fell within any of the statutory categories. Any claim that it was mandatory for the judge to take judicial notice of the reports was not made below, and therefore, is procedurally barred; it is also without merit. The content of the reports was subject to the rule prohibiting hearsay, and thus, could not be used as substantive evidence. In any event, any error was harmless.

Issue IV:

Swafford's claim that the rule relating to due diligence in connection with newly discovered evidence applies only to collateral counsel is procedurally barred because it was not raised below. It also lacks merit. Moreover, the issue is not whether collateral counsel used "reasonable steps to investigate" or "reasonably conducted a search for Mr. Lestz based on the information counsel had in 1990," but is that specified by this Court in the opinion on remand. Swafford has utterly failed to establish either the due diligence or prejudice components of the issue on remand.

Issue V:

Swafford's claim that the circuit court judge should have disqualified the entire State's Attorney's Office from handling the evidentiary hearing is without merit. He failed to establish any basis to disqualify the State Attorney, muchless his assistants. The State Attorney had no direct involvement (except as Swafford's witness on this issue) in the evidentiary hearing which was handled by an assistant. Swafford has not demonstrated that the trial judge abused his discretion in ruling that there was no basis for disqualification in this case.

ARGUMENT

The only issues before this Honorable Court are those specified in this Court's opinion on remand, to-wit:

Whether Swafford has demonstrated as a threshold requirement that his untimely and successive motion for postconviction relief was filed within two years of the time when Lestz's statement could have been discovered through the exercise of due diligence. [citations omitted]. If the trial court determines that Lestz's statement is newly discovered evidence, it must then determine whether the statement, in conjunction with the evidence introduced in conjunction with the evidence introduced in Swafford's first rule 3.850 motion and the evidence introduced at trial, would have probably produced an acquittal.

Swafford, 679 So. 2d at 739. Very little of Swafford's initial brief addresses those issues. The State asserts that to the extent that Swafford has failed to brief and argue the issues this Court authorized, he has abandoned and/or waived any claims in regard to same.

Assuming arguendo that said claims are not waived, the State's position on the issue on remand follows:

Newly Discovered Evidence

Standard:

In his third Rule 3.850 motion, Swafford claims that the affidavit/statement of Michael Lestz constitutes newly discovered evidence of his innocence of the first degree murder for which he has been convicted and sentenced to death. For evidence to be newly discovered, it must have been "unknown by the trial court, by the party, or by counsel at the time of trial, and it must appear

that defendant or his counsel could not have known [of it] by the use of diligence." Jones v. State, 591 So. 2d 911, 916 (Fla. 1991) [quoting Hallman v. State, 371 So. 2d 482, 485 (Fla. 1979)]. Further, Even if there is newly discovered evidence, to merit relief, the new evidence must be so substantial that it would probably produce an acquittal on retrial. Id. at 911.

In the opinion remanding this claim for an evidentiary hearing on the newly discovered evidence issue, this Court held:

[A]s a threshold requirement [Swafford must prove] that his untimely and successive motion for postconviction relief was filed within two years of the time when Lestz's statement could have been discovered through the exercise of due diligence. . . . If the trial court determines that Lestz's statement is newly discovered evidence, it must then determine whether the statement, in conjunction with the evidence introduced in Swafford's first rule 3.850 motion and the evidence introduced at trial, would have probably produced an acquittal.

(citations omitted) Swafford v. State, 679 So. 2d 736, 739 (Fla. 1996) (emphasis added). It was Swafford's burden to demonstrate that the Lestz evidence was newly discovered and, if so, that it was so substantial as to probably have produced his acquittal. He utterly failed to do so.

First, Mr. Lestz's alleged "new" statement - the "Lestz's affidavit" 679 So. 2d at 739 - cannot be newly discovered evidence because it was not admitted into evidence. (T 136). Mr. Lestz said that CCR prepared the document, and his testimony at the evidentiary hearing did not track the allegations in the affidavit.

Of particular importance is that the specific allegations in the affidavit on which the remand was based were not substantiated at the hearing. This Court specifically identified the part of the affidavit (alleged to have been that of Mr. Lestz) which underlies the remand, to-wit: "Lestz's statement [the affidavit] places Walsh at the Shingle Shack with the .38 caliber hand gun at or near the time that the murder weapon was discovered in that locale." 679 So. 2d at 736. Contrary to the allegation in the CCR-prepared affidavit, Mr. Lestz's testimony at the hearing does not place Mr. Walsh at the Shingle Shack "with the .38 caliber hand gun" at any time, muchless near the time that the murder weapon was discovered there. Moreover, his testimony does not even remotely suggest that Mr. Walsh actually <u>disposed</u> of the gun, or any gun, at the Shingle Shack. Rather, Mr. Lestz testified that he did not know if, or if so, where, Mr. Walsh disposed of any guns. (T 120). However, if Mr. Walsh disposed of a gun on the night in question, it most likely occurred at a bar on Atlantic Avenue and not at the Shingle Shack (which was located on U.S. 1): "He [Walsh] was pretty anxious . . . [a]nd . . . I dropped him off on the strip known as Atlantic Avenue in Daytona. He seemed at that point to be relieved " (T 68). Thus, the "new" statement of Lestz does not establish the alleged fact on which the remand was based. Consequently, the relief Swafford seeks should be denied.

<u>Threshold Issue - Due Diligence</u>:

Assuming arguendo that neither the failure to obtain admission of the affidavit into evidence nor to establish the critical allegations contained in the affidavit at the evidentiary hearing ends this Court's consideration of this matter, Swafford must prove that the statement of Lestz given at the evidentiary hearing was newly discovered evidence. The threshold issue is:

Whether Swafford has demonstrated . . . that his untimely and successive motion . . . was filed within two years of the time when Lestz's statement could have been discovered through the exercise of due diligence.

Swafford, 679 So. 2d at 739. Lestz's statement was established at the evidentiary hearing. Relevant to the due diligence issue, he testified:

- 1) He maintained an address at 12 South Oak Street, Du Quoin, Illinois, which he had "off and on for like five or six years." (T 96, 97). That address was listed on his Illinois driver's license, and it was his correct address prior to his incarceration in the federal prison. (T 95-96).
- 2) He was imprisoned in September, 1982 in the "Marion Federal Penitentiary in Marion, Illinois," and was released on December 3, 1984. (T 69, 79, 89, 90). He was required to go back to his "point of conviction" which was "Arkansas," but shortly

 $^{^{15}{\}rm The~Lestz}$ affidavit was not admitted into evidence. (T 136). Thus, the only "statement of Lestz" is that given during his testimony at the evidentiary hearing.

thereafter, he was placed in his brother's "care" and "remanded to the Seventh District of Illinois Probation Department." (T 91). The federal prison authorities "knew where I was at." (T 91-92).

- 3) He returned to his home and lived in a trailer "on Route 51, in Elkville," Illinois, a small town of "about a hundred and four people" in 1990. (T 78, 92). This residence was "[s]even miles" from the Oak Street address. (T 101). He lived at that address until "roughly June or July of 1985" when he moved to a home "[a]bout three" miles away, located at "Rural Route 1, Hallidayboro, Illinois," in a "small town" "[j]ust on the outskirts of" Elkville. (T 93). He lived there continuously "until today. (T 93).
- 4) Federal Probation Officer Bruce Chambers was in "a town close by" and knew where Lestz lived. (T 92). Mr. Lestz reported to Mr. Chambers "every week." (T 92). Indeed, after his probation ended, Lestz continued to have contact with Mr. Chambers. (T 124).
- 5) After his release from federal prison, some motor vehicles were titled in Mr. Lestz's name. (T 100). Some of those titles bore his correct address. (T 100).
 - 6) Mr. Lestz owns and operates a "[p]est control" business

¹⁶Mr. Lestz's brother was his "sponsor." (T 91). Mr. Lestz indicated that the had asked his brother not to indiscriminately give out his "whereabouts." (T 80, 126). However, he opined that the federal authorities had his brother's address. (T 98). Further, his brother's correct address appeared on Lestz's car loans and a business loan; he was Mr. Lestz's "guarantor." (T 100, 101, 104).

and has done so "[s]ince the time I got out of prison last," i.e., December 3, 1984. (T 102). Mr. Chambers likely knew that Mr. Lestz ran that business as the two men had contact "[s]everal times" in the years after Mr. Lestz successfully completed his parole. (T 124, 125).

7) Mr. Lestz married in "'85 or '86" and lived with his wife and their daughter continuously "until this present time." (T 105).

The VCSO reports list the Oak Street address in Duquoin, Illinois, along with a telephone number for Mr. Lestz. (Defendant's Exhibit 6 at 1). Another report lists the prison where Mr. Lestz was incarcerated and gives his inmate number and a telephone number. (Defendant's Exhibit 5 at 3).

With that information, Investigator Champion was able to quickly find information which would have been sufficient to locate Mr. Lestz. This information was available to Swafford upon a proper request thereafter.

I. Trial Counsel

Despite having served a standard discovery demand, Swafford's trial attorneys, Howard Pearl and Ray Cass, went to the Ormond Beach Police Department to inquire about any "additional files or evidence." (T 173). They received "a rather large package of work that they had done" on Swafford's case. (T 173). The attorneys could have, but did not, take such action with the primary investigating agency, the Sheriff of Volusia County. (T 174, 207-

208).

Mr. Pearl had interviewed witness, Paul Seiler, and therefrom "knew there was a possibility of another suspect, someone else." (T 180). Mr. Cass shared his belief "that Mr. Seiler could point to someone else . . . although he could not identify him. . .." (T 180). Also, due to an alleged evidentiary conflict regarding specifically where the murder weapon was found, Mr. Pearl believed that there may have been two guns, and thus, another suspect. (T 203). Due to his "extremely good" relationship with the officers involved, he could have asked them whether there were additional suspects, but he "did not." (T 208). Defense counsel did not further investigate suspect possibilities. (T 203).

Attorney Cass admitted that he had spoken to Prosecutor White prior to trial and that Mr. White told him that there were suspects other than Swafford. (T 252). Mr. Cass testified:

. . . He was in an office . . . in which there had to be about fifty cartons of files. And when I mentioned any others, I said, well, where are they, you know. And he said well, they had ruled them out, but they are there. And he indicated . . . some fifty file boxes. And I said, well, you don't want to pull them. He said, no, you can just go ahead and look through them yourself, if you want.

(T 261) (emphasis added). Mr. Cass thought that it would take a long time to go through the files; he did not ask Mr. White if he could quickly find the suspect information for him. (T 262).

 $^{^{17}\}mathrm{Mr}$. White had always given Mr. Cass any discovery he had requested. (T 260).

Attorney Pearl admitted that had he been looking for Mr. Lestz, he would have found him with the information contained in the VCSO repots. (T 226-227). Mr. Cass and CCR Attorney Nickerson also testified to steps they would have taken to find Mr. Lestz with that information. (T 255-257, 368-377). From Mr. Lestz's testimony at the 1997 evidentiary hearing, it is clear that had those steps been taken, Mr. Lestz would have been found from the information contained in the VCSO reports.

The trial court found "had . . . Cass, taken up prosecutor White's offer . . ., then the trial counsel, weeks before the start of the murder jury trial, would have discovered also those two (2) Sheriff reports " (T 287). Certainly, Swafford has presented nothing to invalidate that determination. Thus, trial counsel could have found Mr. Lestz, Mr. Levi, and Mr. Walsh with the exercise of due diligence, and therefore, there is no newly discovered evidence.

The evidence developed at the evidentiary hearing overwhelmingly shows that Mr. Lestz could have been located prior to trial if trial counsel had exercised due diligence. To the extent that the failure to locate Mr. Lestz within the applicable time frame might appear to be ineffective assistance of trial counsel, the State points out that such a claim is thrice procedurally barred, as follows:

(1) In his first Rule 3.850 motion (filed October 15, 1990),

Swafford alleged that his trial counsel rendered him ineffective assistance in some 15 respects, but did not complain of counsel's failure to investigate other potential suspects. Swafford v. Dugger, 569 So. 2d 1264, 1267 (Fla. 1990) [See Rule 3.850 motion, claims III and IV, pages 44-78]. The failure to raise the issue in the prior Rule 3.850 motion constitutes an abuse of process. Foster v. State, 614 So. 2d 455, 459 (Fla. 1992); Smith v. State, 453 So. 2d 388 (Fla. 1984).

- (2) It is procedurally barred because such a claim of ineffective assistance was not properly raised in the subject (third) Rule 3.850 motion. The only mention of anything close is the following: "When viewed in conjunction with other evidence never presented because of the State's discovery violations and/or trial counsel's deficient performance, there can be no question that his conviction cannot" stand. (Motion at 18). The State contends that this passing reference to one prong of an ineffective assistance of counsel claim is wholly insufficient to put this issue before the court.
- (3) It is procedurally barred because there has been no presentation of evidence sufficient to meet the materiality prong of the $Strickland^{18}$ ineffective assistance standard. See Mills v.

¹⁸Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984).

State, 684 So. 2d 801, 804 n.4 (Fla. 1996). 19

II. Collateral Counsel.

Swafford's first Rule 3.850 motion was filed on October 15, 1990. (T 330). It alleged that the subject VCSO reports, including the reports of July 26, 1982 and January 31, 1983, had not been provided at trial in violation of *Brady v. Maryland.*²⁰ Thus, it is clear that as of October 15, 1990, Swafford's collateral counsel had the information contained in the VCSO reports pertinent to locating Mr. Lestz.²¹ Consequently, if Mr. Lestz could have been located with the exercise of due diligence based upon the information in the VCSO reports, Swafford had until October 15, 1992 to file his instant 3.850 motion.²² See Swafford v. State, 679 So. 2d at 739.

The State contends that the evidence developed at the evidentiary hearing, and set-out hereinabove, overwhelmingly shows

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